Twentieth Century in Dromcollogher

n early part of the Twentieth Century in Dromcollogher boasted three tailors, two shoe- makers, two harness-makers, two blacksmiths, two barbers, a bicycle shop, two bakeries (Fitzgerald’s and Ahern’s), and nineteen public houses.

The recorded population of Dromcollogher in 1911 was 444 people. Emigration from Limerick City and County for the year was 11 ,271

Emigration from Limerick City and County for the same period was I 1,271I

The following is extracted from the memoirs of Daniel 0’ Callaghan.

Danny O’Callaghan was the son of Daniel (ex R.I.C. Sergeant) and Hannah White. “I was an only child. I was born on June 14th 1907 in an apartment in the house of Miss McAuliffe, Church St. (now the property of Eugene Noonan). I have no re-collection of this location since my parents moved to a rented house, (the property of Miss Moran, Gurteen), at the North Rd., Dromcollogher. This was my home from childhood until I moved to my present house at Knockacraig in May 1956. One of my earliest and most pleasant recollections was that of my  only surviving grandfather Thomas White, who lavished his affection on me, and died at the age of 80 in Sept. 1914.

Typical of the older generation, his family had suffered eviction from their farm, and in his working days was the leader of a band or ‘meithal’ of movers, who in the days before the advent of farm machinery, contracted to, cut the meadows with hand slathers for the local farmers. He had a limited knowledge of the Irish language, and strange to say as a four or five year old, my first prayers ‘the Sign of the Cross’, ‘Our Father’ and ‘Hall Mary’ were in the native tongue.

One of my longest recollections is of a temporary curate, a Father Maloney (of handball fame) calling to the house and asking me to recite these prayers in Irish. Father Michael Burns was P.P., and Father Tom Wall or as he preferred to be known, an t-eithan Tomas De Bhall was curate. The parish priest was a gentlekind person who won the affection, esteem of the entire community, and died rather unexpectedly. In the era before motor transport, the parish priest possessed a horse and trap, to enable him to fulfil his parochial duties and always employed a manservant. In this particular case, the man was ‘Johnny Hartnett’ a native of Tournafulla and the housekeeper was Mary Broderick, universally known as ‘Mary the Priest”, On a fine June day in 1917 Mary paid a visit to Limerick, horse and trap to Newcastle West Station and there by rail.

During her absence, the parish priest passed away peacefully.

I can vividly recall standing at Mrs. Geary door, with her sons Michael, Joe watching the housekeeper returns. Canon John Begley P.P. replaced him. (a Historian, who at that time had completed his first book on the History of the Diocese). The only educational establishment in Dromcollogher at the time was the local national school. There were two teachers in each school Daniel 0 Callaghan and Jeremiah Buckley in the boys and Mrs. Buckley and

Miss K. 0’ Donnell, (later known Mrs. 0 Mahoney in the girls’ school). I remember, at the age of three, without the consent of my parents, that I decided / would go to school. / slaked forth and began to run, and was finally caught in front of Mick 0’ Brien’s house by a girl named Kate Madigan, a dressmaker employed by Mrs. Long, one of our neighbours. Strange to say / will remember this incident but cannot recall my first entrance to school which was only two years later.

We will now move on to the political situation in Dromcollogher 1913 to 1916.  During that period the main political faction were the A. O.H (Ancient Order of Hibernians) staunch supporters of The Redmondite Party who supported and advocated the Home Rule Policy.

They organised and founded a Pipers Band, which was to play an important part in the social and musical life of the locality. Father Wall, the curate, was an Irish language enthusiast and a branch of the Gaelic League was established which became very active. They employed an Irish teacher Michail 0’ Foghlu andorganised classes’ adult in Irish Language and History. Sinn Féin then made into appearance and it’s small but active core of supporters could be found in the Gaelic League and G.A.A sectors.

Apart from Concerts and Ceilithe, there was an annual Fair, which mainly helped to pay the modest salary of the Irish teacher. A company of the Irish Volunteers was founded and gradually swung to the Sinn Fein concept of political actors. Drill meetings and parades became a common feature of activity and hurleys and timber guns improvised far rifles.

Father Wall played a prominent and directing part in the militant movement, and through his contact at high levels brought many an important figure to Dromcollogher.

Prior to the 1916 Rising the position in Dromcollogher could be said to be that the majority of the young men were still followers of the constitutional movement of Redmond for Home Rule, last a small but determined body of followers of Sinn Fein and in favour of an armed insurrection. Prior to the rising, the local company of Volunteers secured a number of rifies and small arms and awaited orders for a rising of Charles Wall, (The Square), went to Cork where he underwent a Volunteer training course and on his return took charge of the local unit.

Drilling and the acquisition of firearms continued, and the small but determined unit in common with its counterparts in surrounding localities awaited orders for a general rising.

On Holy week 1916 Charles Walls was summoned to a meeting he preceded with two strangers to Lilly 0 Connor’s house in The Square.

He was first sworn in as a member of the l.R.B. (Irish Republic Brotherhood) in formed that the Rising was to take place on Easter Sunday. He was appointed Commandment of the West Limerick Region, and was instructed to proceed with the local unit to Glen quin Castle, between Ash ford and Tournafulla - some tenmiles of a distance. Here he would be found by the other West Limerick units, of which he was to take command, and he was to await further orders. The decision on the Rising was to be kept a secret. Volunteers were simply ordered on a route march, were to take with them any arms that they processed and three days’ rations.

It is surmised that one of their first actions would be to proceed to Barna Railway Station and secure rifles, a portion of the cargo of the ill-fated German ships. What happened on that fateful day is now history. With the failure to receive German help and the capture and sinking of the German arms ship the commander in Chief of the Volunteers Eoin McNeil, countermanded the rising, and such an order was sent by courier to Limerick.

The local unit proceeded as instructed to Glenquin, where some hundreds of the West Limerick Volunteers were gathered. On arrival, the Commandant Charles Wall, was approached by a Captain Mclnerny from Limerick City, who conveyed to him Mc Neil’s countermanding order. Faced with the countermanding order the Volunteers present engaged in drill routine, which included a mock attached on the castle. They subsequently dispersed and returned to their native localities. It is interesting to note that two bread vans from Fitzgerald’s Bakery were present to provide food rations should the original plan be carried out.

Incidentally, on the fiftieth anniversary of the Rising was commemorated with the unveiling of a plaque on the Castle.

The unveiling ceremony was performed by the surviving Commandant, Charles Wall, a few survivors of the occasion, members of the West Limerick old I.R.A. who subsequently took part in the 1919-1921 struggle against the British and units of the F. C.A. On Easter Monday, news broke that the rising had taken place in Dublin. At that time I was nine years of age and well remember being in the house of my next door neighbour Johnny Keogh (a butter- maker) when his wife Mrs. Mary Ann Keogh arrived in an agitated state from the Post Office, where she had heard that full scale fighting had broken out in Dublin.

The Dublin papers ceased delivery but the Cork Examiner arrived daily and gave a more or less comprehensive account of the progress of the Rebellion.

At about 10p.m. on Friday night the local R.I.C. Sergeant Kelly and a constable went from house to house with the in formation that Padraig Pearse had surrendered and that the Rising was over. I well remember that with my parents we were saying the Family Rosary when a knock came to the door and the police entered. The Sergeant apologised for the interruption and addressing my father said “You will be glad to hear, that Captain Pearse has surrendered and the Rising is over”. I would venture to state that at the time, I would imagine that apart from the followers of Sinn Féin and the local company of Volunteers- the majority of the local people thought the Rising to be ill advised -, while at the same time having a certain feeling of admiration for the participants. The subsequent events caused this attitude to change to one of unqualified support. Within a matter of days, an order followed from the British, ordering a surrender of all arms by the Volunteers.

I well, remember watching with deep regret on a sunny May evening, the local company march in formation through the lawn to surrender their guns at the local R.I.C. station. To the best of my belief they were accompanied by Father Wall. Now an incident of one gun that wasn’t surrendered. On a May morning, another pupil and myself opened the National School. To our surprise on entering the room, we saw a rifle hanging from one of the ventilators shafts. We awaited Mr. 0’ Callaghan (“the Master”) arrival. He called on one of the senior pupils Paddy hin to proceed to the R. I. C. Barrack and in form the local Sergeant. After a short time, the Sergeant and a Constable arrived and removed the rifle, from which the bolt had been removed. Apparently, the R.l.C. had a count on all the rifles possessed locally and on checking with the guns already surrendered, they braced this particular gun to be the property of Michael 0’ Brien, the Square.

They sent him word to kindly hand up the missing rifle bolt. During the week two arrests were made, Michael 0’ Foghlu the Irish teacher and Martin Geary of Gurteen. These two prior to the rising had frequently worn full volunteer uniforms. Both were held in custody for only a short time and then released.

In the aftermaths of the rising came the executions of the leaders, which drew a feeling of horror and revulsion in the locality and swung support of the people to the physical force policy of Sinn Fein. Another factor which had a profound effect in the locality was the request by General Maxwell, the British Commander in Chief, to Dr. 0’ Dwyer, Bishop of Limerick, to discipline the local curate, Father Thomas De B hail, for his active support of the revolutionary movement. The Bishops scathing reply to the general had not only a national but a very marked local effect. The local company of Volunteers were re-organised and attracted many new recruits all with the knowledge that the militant struggle would continue.

Gaelic League, G.A.A. and Volunteers movement worked hand in hand and there was a great and widespread resurgence of the national spirit. The R.I.C., who prior to the Rising were more or less accepted as a normal police force and respected as such, were now regarded with suspicion and more or less classified as “the eyes and ears” of the British domination.

Their relations with the community rapidly deteriorating and gradually developed into a state of complete ostracism. And now for a major confrontation between Sinn Fein and the Crown Forces Feiseanna, Aeriochtana and even hurling games went hand in hand with volunteer activity and were regarded with grave suspicion by the authorities. R.I.C members were always present at such functions and noted revolutionary remarks made by the speakers. In June 19 the Annual Feis as held in Patie Noonan’s field (under the arch) in Dromcollogher. I happened to be the recipient of a prize in History and my award was the book written by Michael 0’ Marhan, one of the 1916 Leaders, a swordsman of the Brigade. Following the conclusion of the Feis/the prizes were presented to the winners by Canon Begley P.P. at the particular time, a law was in force, which prohibited people from marching in military formation (in fours). A large force of police was drafted in for the occasion and was under the command of the District Inspector, a Mr. Widgeon.

He was a rather youthful impetuous and excitable character. Shortly after the Feis competitions had started, the Broad ford Fiddle and Drum Band marched up Church St. on their way to the Field. Their followers were marching in military formation and were met with a “Baton Charge”. Tension now ran high and the police inspectors contacted Newcastle West and requested military assistance. In due course cycling detachments of about fifty British soldiers arrived fully armed. They did not enter the Field but stood in formation in front of The Bank in The Square. When the Feis concluded, it was customary for the local Piper Band to march from the field and around the town.

The police intimated that this was allowable; on no account should those following the band march in military formation. A council of war was hastily held and it was decided to defy the ban. On their exit from the field at Noonan’s Arch, the police made an effort to stop the parade but failed.

The Band then swung right and proceeded round the Square in front of the Post Office they were again confronted by a strong force of R.I. C., and a conflict ensued. The police used their batons freely and in retaliation, the volunteers used sticks, stones and fist cuffs. At one stage, the military party who took no part in the struggle had backed to the bank wall and had their rifles at the ready. Fin ally, the procession broke up and the combatants disengaged. The event was witnessed in its entirely by John Galvin and myself. In the course of the events, he was knocked to the ground by a burly policeman rushing to aid his fellows. It was of course an accident and the policeman showed concern picking him up and expressing his regret.

The incident had in a few weeks time an aftermath. In the dawn hours of July 31st on a very wet night the R.l.C. swooped and arrested the following; Jim 0 Shea, Pat Buckley (later lost in the court house fire), Bob Costello, and Daniel Galvin. They raided the house of Mick Sheehy, Church St. who escaped and who from that day to the close of hostilities of the Civil War in 1923.

They were taken to Adare Court and charged with riotous behaviour assault on the police marching in military formation etc and remanded to a future court. At the sitting of this court, Daniel Galvin was acquitted and the others found guilty and sentenced to about six months imprisonment which they served in Belfast Gaol.

Then came the Conscription Threat which united all sections of political life in opposition to the scheme mass meeting and the church gate signing of the ant/conscription pledge. A big infusion of the not too military minded men into Irish Volunteers, some to stay permanently and render prominent service and some to sever than connections when the danger had passed.

The General Election in 1918 saw Sinn Fe/n sweep into power and the establishment of Dáil Eireann in January 1919, saw an attempt to take over civil administration and incorporate the volunteers as the army of the republic. Henceforth I will refer to them as the I.R.A.

An incident which occurred in the 1919-1920 period made an imprint.

Archbishop Mannix, of Melbourne decided on a visit to Ireland. He was refused entry by the British and off the Irish coast, it was removed by a British warshipant taken to England. On the Sunday following this occurrence the local Sinn Fein Cumann requested all householders in Dromcollogher to display a Tricolour.

All government employees — teachers, post office officials, local government employees and even publicians, for obvious reasons did not comply with the request, nor were they expected to do so.

On that Sunday morning John Galvin, Dermot 0’ Callaghan and myself were playing on the street when they remarked to me, that the flag was not flying from his house.

I felt hurt by the remark and returning home, unknown to my parents, stuck out a Tn-colour from the top window, in fact it was a more revolutionary flag than any of the others, having printed on the white, the letters I. R. (Irish Republic). It was there some time before my parents discovered it, but decided it should remain. Our sole means of sufficiency was my fathers R. I. C. pension, about a fortnight later the local R.I.C. Sergeant a Mr. O’Connor sent for my father.

He stated that on that particular Sunday morning he had gone around the town and noted the flags. He said that, under the circumstances he was more than surprised to see a Tricolour displayed from our house.

He had however, received word from West district Headquarters at Newcastle West that the flag had been displayed and was instructed to investigate the matter.

Some person in the locality had forwarded them an anonymous letter, looking over the matter.

He pointed out to my father that confirmation of the fact could cost him his pension. Decent man that he was, he said that he would supply the authorities with confirmation of the incident. Now followed a period of meetings, parades, raids and arrests. Asserting that Dáil Eireann was the legitimate government Sinn Fe/n courts were set life, the I.R.A. was considered the army of the republic, and actively prepared for the armed struggle ahead.

As far as I can remember John Quaid, Clonlara was one of the Sinn Fein court judges. Litigants referred their cases to the courts and accepted their discussions without questions.

The I.R.A. went more underground, were busily engaged collectthg fire arms, and the more prominent members notably Tim 0 Shea, Ben 0 Sullivan and Mick Sheehy “went on the run”. The release of any prisoner from gaol was the occasion of a massive welcoming function accompanied with bands, torch-lighted processions and bon-fires.

About this particular period, a branch of Fianna Eireann was founded, in common with boys of my age (13). We did drill and signalling sessions under adult supervisors, due to our ages, however (12-15) we were mostly ineffective. We provided our own funds through raffles, etc., and bought 16 F/anna useful for an event to be described.

One evening we were ordered to attend at the Hall where a number of volunteers were present. Bob Aherne, prepared to administrate, to us the oath of allegiance taken by I.R.A. members.

Tim 0 Shea, captain of the local I.R.A. company, was present and objected to the administrative of an oath to children of such a low age group. The oath portion was omitted and instead repeated the formula as a simple promise. As 1919, progressed armed conflict broke out and 1920 saw the struggle intensified but the first major incident in the locality was the burning of the Dromcollogher Courthouse with tragic consequences on Sunday June 2O 1920. A solid cutstone structure, it was situated in Pike Street about 150 yards from R. I. C. Barracks, which contained a mixed garrison of R.l.C. and Black and Tans numbering about 20. The local unit decided on the action and about midnight on a fine summer evening placed a small-armed section between the Courthouse and R. I. C. barracks to engage the garrison should they become alerted.

Entry was secured by about six men who poured petrol on the floor and at the particular time few were aware of the danger of petrol fumes. What happened was never quiet clear, but apparently, someone struck a match, perhaps to light a cigarette, when a terrific explosion was heard and four men were trapped in the building. The orders issued beforehand, treating the cooperation as a comparatively simple one, were that when the building was alight all volunteers were to retreat as quickly as possible.

These orders were obeyed, but realising that someone was amiss some of the party returned to realise the horrible truth. They set about with frantic efforts to rescue their trapped comrades.

They succeeded in dragging out three very badly burned Volunteers, Brennan, Miliam Danaher, Broadford, and Jack 0’ Farrell, Dromcollogher, but all efforts failed to extricate Pat Buckley, Dromcollogher, whose body had jammed a door.  Of the rescuing party, a man noted for heroic efforts was Michael Pierce of Broadford.

The three badly burned men were in a pitiful condition and in The Square, were anointed by the Canon. They were hurried away and put in safe keeping in friendly houses in the North Cork district. Brennan and Danaher survived only a few days and were buried at midnight.

Jack 0’ Farrell miraculously survived with a badly disfigured face and suffering the effects of his terrible ordeal to the days of his death which occurred many years afterwards. I slept soundly on that night and on Monday morning proceeded as a mass server to answer Mass. Canon Begley was the first person to in form us, when he asked us did we hear of the terrible tragedy. Monday saw a large force of military arrive and an immediate house-to-house search of all the houses in the town and immediate vicinity was made in the hope of discovering some injured survivors.

I recall that in my own house in the process of searching a tall helmeted officer hit his head against a thrush’s cage, which hung low from the ceiling, and his remarks were far from parliamentary. After school, we proceeded to the burnt out courthouse and viewed the charred remains of Pat Buckley. It was a very sad moment for me as I had a great friendship with him and a few years earlier, he used to get permissions from my parents to take me to the Band practices. He was a man of great principle and one of the last young men to change allegiance from Redmondite policy to Sinn Fein. In fact, his prison sentence following the Feis conflict had a marked bearing on his future participation in the movement. He was a tailor, possessed a good singing voice and his favourite song was “Who Fears to Speak of ‘98”.

It was ironic perhaps that he met his death in such a manner since the burning of unoccupied buildings never appealed to him and he would have preferred more direct encounters with the enemy forces.

Following an in quest in which a local jury brought in a verdict “that he was a person unknown and had met his death in the discharge of his duty” his remains were handed over to the Sinn Fein representatives, he had no next of kin in the locality. The funeral took place the next day from Dromcollogher Church to the local cemetery and was the largest ever seen in the locality.

By coincidence on the very morning of the funeral, we had received from William our Feanna hats and about sixteen of us headed the funeral procession. In addition to the general public hundreds of I.R.A. from the surrounding districts.

DIARY OF EVENTS 1913—1922

(By Ex- Commandant Irish Volunteers Charles Wall)

Charles Wall, who lived in Dromcollogher, was born in 1893 and died in 1969.  The above “Diary of Events” was complied from written account and tape — recordings made by him.

Fr. Tom Wall from East Limerick — no relation of Charles Wall and Fr. Hayes were the priest’s complained by Gen. Maxwell to Dr. O’Dwyer, Bishop of Limerick, which provoked the Bishop’s famous letter in reply.

Charles Wall was one of many Volunteers who attended the funeral of Jeremiah 0’ Donovan Rossa in 1915.

Dromcollogher has the distinction of being the second place outside of Dublin to organise a Volunteer corps. Athlone was the first. In November 1913, Fr. Tom Wall C.C., who was the local curate, called the young men of the town and the parish to a meeting where the aims and ideals of the Irish Volunteers were explained. A hall owned by a local merchant, Patrick Brennan, was rented. The same hail was the scene of the terrible cinema tragedy of 1926. An ex-British soldier Maurice Kiely gave his services as drill instructor. He was very good and about three nights a week the volunteers learned the usual parade —ground foot and arms drill. About forty men were enrolled and a month later, I was appointed in command. We had no firearms at the time. So a number of dummy wooden guns were made and instruction was given through these. I had studied the semaphore system of signalling and I gave lessons to a section of the men. Fr. Wall got a .22 BSA rifle for target practice. On Sundays, we used to have route marches and we used to do the route marches to neighbouring villages and corps were organised in those places. We had trouble owing to the formation of a volunteer corps called the Redmondites. They were a political organisation and an arrangement was made between the original Irish Volunteers, which worked for a while. The First World War broke out and the British Government was looking for recruits for the army. John Redmond, leader of the Irish Parliamentary Party, gave his support to the recruiting drive. As a result, there was a split in the volunteers. We were in Dromcollogher suffered a lot at that time because we had a standing company of about forty or fifty men and we were reduced down to ten. Those who broke away from the original Volunteers to the Irish National Volunteers, as they were now called, didn’t realize that they were to be used to supplement the British Army. When they found that out, they came back again to us. A few joined up, but they were very few in the country districts.

They came back and our members increased until we had about forty or fifty men. We got a circular from HQ about getting up a fund called the “Defence of Ireland Fund” and we applied locally for subscriptions for the buying of guns. We collected about sixty pounds. At that, time there was no trouble in getting guns from England. So we ordered a consignment. The BSA Company forwarded to Charleville railway station twenty-five single shot 303 rifles. We wanted magazine rifles instead and two six — chamber revolvers. These were given to the men on an instalment plan. The idea was that more money would be available for getting further arms. A Lee — En field rifle at that time cost five pounds, and the men were paying back a shilling a week. A number of them have purchased their rifles and more of them were still paying.

There was still a lot of apathy on the part of general public. One man I would like to mention and that is Captain Monteith. He had been a clerk in the Ordnance Survey Office in Dublin. He gave his services to the Irish Volunteers and helped to train them, for which he lost his job and was ordered not to reside in Dublin. He came to Limerick on the 14th November 1914. He gave his full time to training the Limerick City Volunteers and also West Limerick and East Limerick companies. He came to Dromcollogher on two occasions and instructed us on various military exercises. I knew him personally, as he stayed in my house. He was a fine upright man and an experienced soldier, and he gave us wonderful insight into a lot of military matters. Luckily enough, he escaped the British, when they were searching for him after he landed in Banna Strand with Casement. He got away. Friends kept him seclusion until they got him away to America.

Therefore, we had only wooden rifles. Now we were proud to go on route marches. We had recruiting marches to different villages, Broadford, Mi/ford, Killeedy etc. There was a big parade of Volunteers in Limerick on Whit Sunday 1915. I was in charge of twelve volunteers fully armed with Lee — En field rifles. We had mass in Charleville and our appearance created a stir as we formed ranks going in and out of the church. We met officers of the Cork City Regiment at Charleville railway station and we marched with them during the parade in Limerick. The ex — British soldiers and the wives of those selving, who were drawing allowances, attacked the Volunteers with stones and bottles. We found out later that they were served with free drink to create a riot. It didn’t succeed and the Volunteers held their ranks under great provocation.

On another occasion there was a review of Volunteers by Eoin McNeill, general commanding Officer, at Lough Guru about three miles on the Limerick side of Bruff About fifteen of us cycled with full equipment. It was a very warm day and the distant covered was fifty miles to Lough Gur and back home. Only for Fr. Tom Wall, who, got us a substantial meal at the hotel in Bruff, I don’t think we could have made it.

In January of 1916, I was sent to do an officers training course in Sheares street, cork, a fortnights training. Capt. J.J. O’Connell from Dublin conducted it. Our part would be very important as an arms ship from Germany was arriving in off the Kerry coast on Sunday morning. The arms train from Kerry was due at arrive at barns station, which is midway between Abbeyfeale and Newcastle West at 5 p.m. and it would be boarded by the Volunteers who would help to get the engine on the turntable in Newcastle West. By the time the train reached Limerick it was hoped that the city would be in the hands of the Limerick City Regiment of Volunteers. Portion of the train was to go on to Gort Co. Ga/way with arms for the Gaiway men.

I sent our mobilization as ordered. I received some disquieting news about the arms ship so I cycled to Newcastle West on Good Friday and I interviewed Michael O’Gorman, one of the officers attached to the Newcastle West company. He told me that the local R.l.C. was holding up all cars passing through. / told him to carry out all the mobilizations plans, with the result that eleven companies of Volunteers assembled at Glen quin. They were drawn from the following units — about one hundred and fifty men — Dromcollogher, Broadford, Mona gea, Temple glantine, Killoughteen, Newcastle West, Tournafulla, Ash ford, Raheenagh, Ardagh, Athea. Two chaplains were in attendance, Fr, Tom Wall C. C., Dromcollogher and Fr. Michael Hayes C. C., Newcastle West. Fitzgerald’s bread van from Dromcollogher arrived with supplies of bread.

There were twelve members of the R. I. C. on duty there. We had arranged that they would be seized and made prisoners. The Volunteers would then be told that the Rising had begun and any man not willing to take part would be free to withdraw. The only condition imposed on those withdrawing was that they were not to return home directly but were to remain all night in the hills.

We arrived at Glenquin Castle on Easter Sunday at three o’ clock in the afternoon, but before the hour for action struck, a young officer in full military uniform, from one of the Limerick City battalions, arrived with Eoin McNeill’s countermanding order, stating that all manoeuvres were called offTo put the police off the scent we carried out the usual exercise, drill and so forth. At six o’ clock that evening I was given the dismiss and we went home.

The following day news came that the rebellion had started in Dublin, so we put out a few men at night to intercept any messages that might come none came. An order for the surrender of all arms came from the Provisional Government in Dublin, by P.H. Pearse, Commandant General of all Irish Volunteers. Fr. Tom Wall called us together in the Drill Hall and told us that it had been arranged that we would surrender our arms at the local R.i.C. barracks. It was a heart- rending decision after all our high hopes and I will never forget that evening when I marched at the head of my men for the surrender. Fr. Wall went ahead of us. Each man was admitted singly and handed over his rifle and the number of it was taken and a receipt issued. The receipts were useless of course. We should have kept our rifles but we didn’t know at the time what was on. The ammunition was also handed over, but I held on to a revolver. Fr. Wail remained until the transaction was completed. When Fr. Wall first told them, the men didn’t want to hand up their arms, but did so for his sake so that he wouldn’t get into trouble. He was under suspicion.

On the Tuesday after Easter week I was arrested the houses was surrounded at four o’ clock in the morning by local police and some members of the R. I. C. from outside and the Superintendent from Newcastle West. I was taken to the local police barracks and there sitting down in the day room he was already arrested, was Martin Geary of Gurteen, a member of the Volunteers. A local jarvey who had a sidecar was requisitioned. Around six o’ clock we were driven to Newcastle West police barracks. Two more men who had been arrested were there, an Irish teacher by the name of Tomas 0’ Conba, and a Newcastle West Volunteer officer, Michael 0’ Gorman. While we were waiting, Michael 0’ Gorman’s sister brought us in some breakfast. We were removed by the nine o’ clock train from Newcastle West into Limerick County gaol. There had been a big number of arrests in Limerick city and outside during the course of the week and the Limerick City Volunteers, like ourselves, had unfortunately surrendered their guns. There were about forty Volunteer prisoners in the gaol, one man to each cell. Conditions included the barest of prison food. We had cups of cocoa for our breakfast and a small brown loaf. For the dinners, there was a stew a watery stew with three potatoes. In all cases two of them were black, one good one in three. Supper at night again was cocoa and brown bread. It was real prison diet but we didn’t mind at the time.

After three days we were court -martialled. When we were going up for court- martial before the British colonel, Colonel Weldon, the C.O. in Limerick, he already knew that the arms had been surrendered and we were released unconditionally. We came home by train, Martin Geary and myself, and arrived back in Dromcollogher that evening of our release.

I was at home for about twelve months. The Volunteers didn’t meet for a long time and there wasn’t any organization or work of any kind. The Volunteer movement was more or less in abeyance. It didn’t get back into its stride until the general release from British prisons of those arrested throughout the country. They were sent over to the convict prisons in England, to Portland and Dartmoor and Reading and all the other jails. When they came back at Christmas, they immediately got in touch with the counties and got them to form up again. So the movement got back into its stride, very slowly.

In the meantime, I had left and taken up a position in Passage West and I was working there for about twelve months. There were talks then of the British going to pursue a Conscription Bill. 1 got orders from Cork to organize Passage West, Monkstown, Raheen a number of places down along the coast. / organized a very fine corps of Volunteers in Passage West in the fall of 1917. They were a very fine bunch of fellows. Some of them were engineers and shipwrights working in the shipyard. They would be about fifty or sixty men. Then we had the Cumann Na mBan organization. They were very good too.

We had the usual two nights a week drill and route marches on Sundays. We used to carry out manoeuvres and various drill exercises. We hadn’t any guns, only wooden rifles for drill practice, but a number of ships were coming into the docks for repair, British ships and American. The war was on at the time and there were hopes that arms would be got, and some were obtained. The man I had in Command, Henry 0’ Mahoney was an engineer. He was working on the docks and there was another chap, Joe Stuart. Joe joined a ship later and it was torpedoed. He went down with it, a very fine fellow.

In the fall of 1918, I received information that my arrest was to be effected. One evening an R. I. C. Inspector from Cobh and a couple of constables came. / saw them and pointed out to them. I knew then that I was only a short time when I would be arrested. So, I said it was time to clear out. / did and / came home.

When I was leaving / handed over command to Henry 0’ Mahony and he, as I found out afterwards, was a great asset to t he movement because he was in several adventures in the procuring of arms and he also belonged to the Flying Column. He was arrested and imprisoned on Spike Island, but he escaped with three or four more fellows in a boat one night and got away.

I was only a short time at home when I got an order to establish the Dáil courts. The other courts had ceased to function, the British courts, nobody was attending them. We had four magistrates. The chairman was Fr. Punch C. C. and he was very good. Another was Martin Geary, the man who was arrested with me in the early stages of the movement. There were two men from the Ash ford side, one by the name of HerIthy. I was registrar and secretary, court clerk. I had to issue or get the summonses and take down the notes. We held these courts in the Old Hall and they were very successful. The local R. I. C. never interfered with us, never came near us as a matter of fact. At the start, the Dáil courts dealt mostly with the land. There was a lot of trouble about land, a lot of land agitation. We had a lot of trivial cases of courses. Fines were imposed and the findings of the court were implemented by the I.R.A. They were in formed to carry out the justification of the court, the collection of the any fines or the arresting of any party that didn’t do what he was supposed to do. Tim O’Shea was in charge of the local I.R.A. They had about twenty men. Some of them were in the West Limerick Flying Column. The court functioned for six months from the fall of 1919 and into the spring of 1920. A number of arrests were being made of those participating in the Courts, those acting as judges and son on. We got orders to cease for a while. We stopped holding the courts. The Tans were getting very violent and we had to keep out of the way.

We didn’t do very much for a while after that. In November 1920, I was again arrested, this time by the British military who surrounded the houses about four o’ clock in the evening. They searched the housetop and bottom and tapped all the walls to see if there was any secret place. There was a small trapdoor to the attic and they got up there. I had a box of ammunition and some military stuff They opened this place anyway and one of them got his hand it. He probed around inside and luckily I had it in a fairly good distance. He didn’t get anything and he came away. There were a lot of old papers there. They weren’t much use. They belonged to the 1916 period, old letters and things. They collected all these and brought them away with them.

I was taken up to the local barracks. They were all military fellows, British military and British officers. They were from Newcastle West. There was no policeman or Tans connected with the thing. I was sitting down in the day room and this elderly soldier slipped over to me and said, “You’ll be alright, matey, with us”“So, that’s good”, I said, “So long as it isn’t the Tans it’s not too bad”. I was taken to Newcastle West in a crossley tender. The British military had taken over the castle in Curling’s demesne near the town. I was a taken in there and brought before an officer and questioned me on my activities and he read a number of those letters that they brought with them. He had a number of names of men in the I.R.A. and he asked me if I had known them. I said “I did” and he says “Where are they?” I said, “I don’t know”. One of them was Ben Sullivan; there was Con Foley, Mick Sheehy and some more. They were on the run at the time, but anyway seemed to have a lot of information about the different localities and about the different chaps, but I gave him no in formation on the matter. They were going through the old trunkfull of papers they had taken. They were all useless. They gave no information to them.

Anyway, I was sent down to the guardroom, and the time was now going on to eleven at night. The soldiers were below there. There were about forty or fifty of them making down their beds for the night. I was allotted a straw palliase and some blankets, and this friendly soldier brought me over a mug of tea and some bread and butter. As the night was bitterly cold, they had a log fire down. So I was feeling nice and comfortable when I heard my name called at midnight. I had to leave my comfortable surroundings. My companions were British soldiers. Their cockney accent was amusing. “Now, matey, you come with us”. I had to get up and I was taken across to the police barracks, across the square to the other. There was only one policeman on duty in the day room so, he took down my name and opened this cell. It was pitch dark and I was shoved in there. In the darkness, I couldn’t see anything. I heard shuffling and I said and I said: “Who is there?” a voice said “a prisoner” I said “Well, I’m another one”, and asked “Where are you from?”, he said “I’m from Ardagh”, so I told him where I was from, but he had a very unnerving experience. The Tans had arrested him and beaten him up. He said “The tans have got out on another raid and are due back shortly. We’ll be lucky if they don’t come into us usually the beat up the fellows in here when they are under the influence of drink”. We did hear them coming back but they didn’t come in. We had cold comfort for the night, no bed or covering. In the early morning, another prisoner was brought

in. Some local parties sent in our breakfast to us. The three of us removed by crossley tender to Limerick. We were taken into the detention barracks and were there for a couple of days. A big number of prisoners had been coming in from Clare and Kerry and parts of Co. Cork and Co. Limerick. There were about seventy of us. We had veiy bad conditions, no blankets only the bare boards.

After three days, we were removed in lorries, open lorries, in a convoy to Kilworth camp. We were handcuffed in pairs standing up in the lorries. It was a terrible day too with rain and sleet. We were drenched to the skin. The first call was at Fermoy military barracks, where we were about an hour and more prisoners were taken on. We left Limerick that morning at nine o’ clock and didn’t arrive in Kilworth camp until about seven that evening. We were in bad shape, but luckily enough the prisoners from Kerry that were there already had good fires down. They dried our clothes and had something hot to give us, but even so, the following morning I had a high fever. It was so bad that I was laid up in bed and they brought in the military prison doctor to see me and he pronounced I was very bad and he said I should stop in bed. I was perspiring a lot and could take no food. I had pleurisy. After three days the orders came that we were to be removed, so an application was sent in that I be left over until I got out of this. The authorities wouldn’t hear of it. I had to go — I had to get up. We were again handcuffed in pairs in open lorries to Cork detention barracks. There was an armoured car in the convoy and as far as I remember three lorries with prisoners on them and there were other convoys of military with us.

We arrived in Cork and when we got in the Low Road near the Glanmire terminus — the railway station — we saw this pall of smoke over the city, It was the morning after Cork was burned. When we got to the foot of the road going up to the barracks, near the Colosseum cinema, the lorries halted and we were there for about half an hour. We could smell this awful smell of smoke. We didn’t know that time that Cork had been burned. We were taken up to the detention barracks and to the barrack square. There was a big number of Auxiliaries and Tans and most of them were drunk. They were around the lorries and they taunted the prisoners and drawing revolvers and drawing Mills bombs out of their pockets. We didn’t know in the minute that they would let them off The soldiers that were guarding us were in an awful state. They were more terrified than we were. They didn’t know what those fellows would do. They were mad with drink and they were being shifted that day to Macroom. This crowd were after burning down the city and they were being taken out of Cork and shifted down to Macroom where they committed another murder down there, the shooting of Canon Magner. That evening, as a matter of fact, I think he was shot.

Anyway, we were taken into the detention barracks in the military barracks there. It was a big place and we were one in each cell. We got very bad food — little or nothing. That night I could not sleep. Whatever material was in the mattress, it was in hard lumps, so I ripped the side of the mattress and put my hand in to break up and soften the lumps. I was then in a nice state as it was moving with lice. They got onto my clothes and body. That was really worse than the hunger, with the result that I put down a terrible time. We were there for a couple of days and nights. About nine o’ clock one night, we got orders to dress and we were lined up in the corridor in the detention barracks. The tans came in — some of them — and they went around looking at each fellow to see if they would recognise him. Evidently they were looking for someone, anyway we got away. We were taken down in lorries to the docks, where there was a British destroyer and we were put on board that. It was about one o’ clock in the morning. There were about one hundred and sixty of us and we didn’t know where we were going. We got no information. We were taken down underneath in the hold of the vessel. It was nice and warm all right underneath. It wasn’t too bad, but we got no drinks, not even a drink of water, no food, and no nothing. We were twenty-six hours at sea, and we landed about nine o’ clock on the second morning in Belfast docks.

We were handcuffed again in pairs and put on lorries that were waiting to take us to the County Down station. At that time, the college crowd, the young fellows, used to meet the boats and assault the prisoners. These fellows started to fire stones and lumps of coal at us. Of course, we could do nothing. We were driven to the County Down station and we were put on board a train there for Ballykinler halt. Ballykinler was a British military training camp. At the time it had been all barbed wire up for Republican prisoners. There were no British military there, only one guard. We were taken to the Halt, a little wayside station about two miles from the camp proper and we had to walk two miles carrying out suitcases and overcoats, on empty stomachs.

In the camp, we were accommodated in huts. There would be twenty five men allotted to each hut in the hut that I was sent to there were a number of Co. Cork men from Midelton, Youghal and Cobh. They hadn’t much to give us, but they made tea for us. There was a stove in the middle of the hut and they boiled water in an old can and made tea. I had no change of underwear, which was crawling with lice after the Cork Detention Barracks, so I had to strip in the toilet and clean myself as best I could. We had our own leader or commandant, the man in charge of the hut. His job was to see was that the hut was kept clean. He was also responsible for the men’s conduct.

After some time, there was an issue of army shirts and underwear. The food was very bad there for a good while until we started to get a few parcels from home. It wasn’t too bad then. Our general health was good. Our sojourn there wasn’t too bad. We were allowed to elect our own general commandant in the camp. He was Joe McCarthy, a Dublin man who had fought in 1916. He afterwards became one of the chief men in the Hospitals Trust. In our camp, there were about nine hundred men, and then they built another camp attached to ours, but isolated from us with barbed wire entanglements. These camps had a double row of barbed wire around them and they were floodlit at night and sentry boxes at the four corners. Tadgh Barry from Cork, a man I knew very well, was shot dead by a sentry. He was waving goodbye to some chaps that were being released and he got up on a box. I suppose the sentry thought he was trying to escape, anyway he fired and he was shot dead.

We refused to answer any commands from the British. When we got there first a British orderly officer would come into the huts at 7.30 a.m. for roll call. Each prisoner had to jump up and stand to attention and answer the roll call. We soon got tired of this so we staged a strike. No prisoner was to stand to, or answer the roll call. There were two soldiers usually with the officer so he ordered them to pull the blankets off. As we prepared for this, each man held on grimly until the officer got tired. He tried it again, but eventually had to give up. We weren’t bothered any more about roll call.

We had a number of prominent men prisoners and it was decided to excavate a tunnel and try to get them out. The hut I was in was number 21, was the one selected. There was a small room, which was used as a toilet so the floorboards were lifted up and four men were allotted to do the digging. Every night the boards were put back for fear of inspection. The huts were built on piles that were driven down into the sand. There was a space of about a foot under the hut. When they started to bore down you couldn’t see from the outside unless you went down on your two knees and looked in. The buckets of sand that came up were deposited under the huts so there was no tell tale sign left. The thing went on and on for months.

This tunnel was difficult because our camp was situated on a promontory near the sea. The tide would come in and they couldn’t go down very far in boringbecause they would get swamped. The tide used to come up right underneath, it was all sand, so they could only go down a certain distance. The tunnel was shored up with bed-boards. Everyone in the camp gave one bed-board. These were slips of timber seven feet long, an inch thick and nine inches wide. Each man had four of these were on a little trestle, so we had to do with three. Each man gave one bed-board according as it was wanted, to shore up the ceiling and sides of the tunnel to prevent it from collapsing. It was only three feet high, just barely enough for a man to crawl through. They had a very ingenious system. They made a rail system with little trucks so that the men that were working at one end, that were boring, was deposited under the huts.

Everything went well, and to cover the escape there was a concert billed for that night. They intended that about thirty men would escape. They had carried the tunnel over a distance of two hundred yards to a corner of a field, and were within a couple of days finishing. It was going under a road around the camp where heavy lorries were going over it every day. Two days before the date of the escape, an army lorry sank in the road under the weight, the tunnel caved in. The thing was discovered and that finished it.

We had more or less our own freedom inside. We had our own chaplain, a Belfast priest, and we had a church, a hall that was turned into a church. We had a lot of distinguished people inside, men that were in the Dáil and were Government Ministers afterwards. A lot of classes were carried on there. You had professors of all kinds. There were Irish classes, French classes, music and shorthand and typing classes. There were fellows giving instruction in all kinds of arts and crafts. We had a recreational room where we had occasional concerts, and we had our playing field for hurling and football.

The food at the start was very bad, but we got a great improvement in it and we supplemented it with food from home. Cumann Na mBan sent in parcels individually and collectively. The contained rashers and meats, fruit and sweets, cigarettes, and a lot of things we couldn’t get inside. Then we had the Daily papers coming in. This came after the Truce when there was a stoppage of fighting on both sides. The British authorities treated us then as political prisoners. We weren’t subject any more to visits form the British commandant and the British officers. They just left us alone.

The Mourne Mountains could be seen very clearly from the camp. Nineteen twenty - one was a fine long summer and peace talks started in June. Our commandant, Joe McCarthy, was released. His mission was as courier to take the various communications from the provisional Government to the British premier, Lloyd George.

We were released in December in 1920 after the signing of the Treaty. I was down with a heavy pleurisy again, but I was in dread ff1 didn’t come on — go out — I would be removed into one of the hospitals in Belfast, and I didn’t want that, so I came out with the rest, and each man as he was leaving, was presented with one pound tin of bully — beef as rations for the journey. We travelled by special train and arrived in Dublin around five or six o’ clock in the evening. A big number went home. I didn’t feel equal to travelling. I stopped the night there and went on the following day. There was a torch light procession in my hometown on that night to celebrate the event. My health was bad for a long time. I remained neutral during the tragic civil war”11.

McNamara makes the following references to Dromcollogher in this book The Widow’s Penny (relating to World War One in Limerick)

“WOUNDED CHAPLIN HOME”

Rev. Father Stack, C. Ss. R., Dromcollogher, who was recently wounded while acting as Chaplin at the front, is at present home on a short holiday. He was

present at the funeral of Rev. Father Raphael, 0. F. M. who was a cousin of his. He has quite recovered from this effects of his wounds, and will, it is understood, shortly return to the front!

“DIED”

CRONIN, Lance Corporal, Timothy. 19312. 8th Bn. Royal Dublin Fusiliers. KIA

27th April 1916. Age 26. Husband of Mary Ann Cronin, Dromcollogher, Co.

Limerick.

Enlisted: Butte vant, Co. Cork.

Commemorated: LOOS MEMORIAL, Pas de Calais, France”!

“DIED”

JORDAN, Private, Fredrick. 4736. 2 Bn. Royal Irish Regiment. Died 7 July

1917. Son of Mrs. H. Jordan, Dromcollogher, Co. Limerick.

Enlisted: Kilkenny.

Cemetery GRANGEGORMAN MILITARY CEMETERY, Co. Dublin. ‘‘

“DIED”

NEALON, Private, Michael. 4917. 3’’ Bn. Royal Munster Fusiliers. Died 16t17

December 1915. Born Broadford, Co. Limerick.

Enlisted: Tralee, Co. Kerry. ““

Cemetery: COBH OLD CHURCH CEMETERY, Co. Cork.”

BURNING OF THE COURTHOUSE 

The original courthouse in Dromcollogher was burnt down on the 21st of June 1920 during the war of independence. Six men entered the courthouse among them were Jack Farrell, Mr. Danaher, Mr. Brennan and Mr. Buckley. Petrol was poured on the floors of the building and within minutes, the building was ablaze with four of the volunteers trapped inside. Three of the men trapped in the courthouse Danaher, Brennan and Buckley died, and Jack Farrell was severely burned but managed to escape he went into hiding and recovered. 

A plaque has been erected on the wall of the reconstructed courthouse in memory of the three who died. The plaque was unveiled by the west Limerick old I.R.A. Association. 

Buckley Terrace situated in Carraward West, Dromcollogher was named after one of these brave men. 

THE DROMCOLLOGHER CINEMA FIRE





Mrs. O’Flynn, Feoghanagh. the last remaining survivor of the Dromcollogher

Cinema fire.

On Sunday 5th September 1926, forty-eight people lost their lives when a fire broke out during a film show in Dromcollogher. The two films, which had been brought from Cork by a projectionist hired by a local man, were shown in the hall in Church St. This was on the upper floor of a building used for storing hardware and access to it was by an external timber ladder, fixed to the wall to form a stairs. The hall, which had been used for meetings and entertainments for a number of years, was a rectangular room with a separate small dressing room area in the right hand rear corner.

The show began about 9:15 p.m. after the Benediction had finished in the local church, at which many of the audience had been present. Estimates of the attendance varied but it appears that at least 150 people crowded into the hall, many of them children.

At around 10:00 p.m. as the second film was showing, one of the reels, which lay unprotected on a table near the door, went on fire when a candle on the table overturned and set it alight. The people immediately rushed to the single narrow door from which the ladder/stairs descended. Those seated nearest the exit escaped as the fire spread rapidly. Other fled to the rear of the hail where the two windows were located and crowded into the small dressing room area. Some got out through the window here but unfortunately, it was blocked when a woman became trapped in it. Within minutes the floor of the hall collapsed and the victims were hurtled to the ground where they died from the combination of burns, asphyxiation and shock. 46 people were dead within fifteen minutes two survivors later died from their injuries.

More than half of the victims were aged under twenty-five, nineteen were less than twenty years old and fifteen were children. The two youngest victims were both just seven years of age, Thomas Noonan and John Kenny. The Kenny family of Carraward also lost a second son, John’s twelve-year-old brother, James. The oldest to die was sixty eight year old Mary Turner from Gardenfield. Jeremiah Buckley, a fifty-two year old national teacher, his wife, Ellen (47), daughter Bridie (10), sister-in-law Kate Wall (45) and their maid, Nora Kirwan (18) all perished so that this entire household on the Square was wiped out. The family terrier was to be seen whining at the door next day and Bridie would have celebrated eleventh birthday on the following Thursday. Thomas Buckley (62), Woodfield, Jeremiah’s brother, also died. The Buckley’s were the only married couple among the victims.

Margaret Collins (60) and Kate Collins (58) died along with Kate’s daughter (22) and two nieces from Sheshive, Nora (22) and Myra O’Sullivan (21). There were two sad cases of the death of young mothers and two of their children. Mary Barrett (34) of Carraward and two of her five children, Mollie (10) and Tom (8) and Anne Fitzgerald (37) of Pike St. with two of her three children, daughter Margaret (10) and son Daniel (8). Equally poignant was the death of Kate McAuliffe (56), her fifteen-year-old daughter Mary and eleven-year-old son John, leaving Florence McAuliffe (53) of Church St. without his entire family. Mary B. O’Brien (51) from Kells died alongside her only Child, Nellie (18) leaving an invalid, wheelchair bound husband. Patrick O’Donnell (62), Pike St. stayed in the hall looking for his wife Katie and young daughter Mary unaware that they hadescaped through the window. Mary (O’Flynn) now aged 87 is the only survivor still alive today. Among the other victims was May O’Brien (24) of Church St. who was engaged to marry local Garda John Davis, Nora Mary Hannigan (11), a London resident, who was visiting relatives in the town and Violet Irwin (15) from the nearby village of Feenagh. Edward Stack (22), a farm labourer working for the O’Sullivan family in Mondellihy, was from Duagh, Co. Kerry and John J. Walsh was a national teacher in Milford, while all the other victims were from the parish of Dromcollogher. Most of these lived in the village itself and ten were from Pike St.

One of the victims had not even been at the show, William Savage, a 56-year-old butcher and farmer, who lived across the road, was incorrectly told that his two sons were trapped and he rushed into the burning building from which he never emerged. Robert Aherne, a 31-year-old publican, also lived in Church St., who had only been married for five months, having escaped with his wife Nora, who was expecting their first child returned to try to rescue his mother-in-law, Anne O’Callaghan and perished along with her. Thomas Buckley a retired schoolteacher and Jim Quaid, 39-year-old farmer stayed in the building helping others to escape, there by losing their own lives.

Burial

Special permission was obtained from the Bishop of Limerick, Most Rev. Dr. David Keane, to allow a communal burial of all the victims in the church grounds. The funeral Mass on Tuesday 7th of September was attended by the bishop and by William T. Cosgrave, President of the Executive Council, as the head of the government was then styled. The parish priest of Dromcollogher, John, Canon Begley, presided while the celebrant of the mass was Rev. Daniel O’Callaghan son of Mary Anne O’Callaghan (61).

amounts, some as lump sums, most sent in instalments every quarter to the dependants of the victims, and to some of the injured survivors, until the 1950’s. For many the burning money was a much needed and welcome supplement to their incomes.

Aftermath

PHOTO

In the 1940’s the site of the hall was bought by the relatives of the victims and given to Limerick County Council who erected an attractively designed Memorial Library there, where framed photographs, contemporary newspapers and other materials relating to the tragedy are displayed. A large Celtic style cross marks the communal grave in the nearby churchyard on which are inscribed the names and dates of birth of all forty-eight victims, innocent men, women and children whose lives were so unexpectedly and cruelly ended on that September night of horror, eighty years ago.

The Mass grave in Drorncollogher Church yard where all but two of the victims are buried

Names of the Deceased

William R. Aherne Mary Barrett Mary Barrett

Thomas Barrett Bridget Buckley Ellen Buckley

Jeremiah Buckley Thomas Buckley Kate Collins

Kate Collins Margaret Collins Mary Egan

Anne Fitzgerald Daniel Fitzgerald Margaret Fitzgerald

Nora-Mary Hannigan Maurice Hartnett Daniel Horan

Violet Irwin James Kenny John Kenny

James Kirwan Margaret Kirwan Nora Kirwan

Nora Long Catherine McAuliffe John McCarthy

Mary McAuliffe Anthony McAuliffe Ellen Madden

Thomas Noonan Mary-Ita Nunan Ellen O’Brien

Mary O’Brien Mary B. O’Brien Mary O’Callaghan

Patrick O’Donnell Eugene O’Sullivan Mary O’Sullivan

Nora O’Sullivan James Quaid William Quirke

William Savage Bridget Sheehan Edward Stack

Mary Turner Kate Wall John J. Walsh

THE LIBRARY

PHOTO

The Library stands in the grounds of the old cinema where the dreadful fire of 1926 took place. The relatives of the victims bought the site in the 1940s and handed it over to Limerick County Council. A library was built dedicated to the memory of the deceased. There have been three librarians — D. O’Halloran, Donie O’Brien and the present librarian Mary O’Gorman who has worked there for the past ten years.

Mrs. Ahern, John G. Galvin, Mr. & Mrs. Horan, County Librarian P.J. Meehan, Manager Rev. Canon O’Connor on the opening night of the Library. 12/05/1 953

The Forge

“The forge in Mondellihy stands the on the boundary of Feenagh and Dromcollogher and was originally built by the landlord of the area for his tenants. The last blacksmith was Timothy O’Donnell and he was following a tradition set forth by three generation of his family. Timothy died in 1958, and the forge still stands today. Timothy’s brother Michael O’Donnell was a harness maker in the town of Dromcollogher”.

FORTS

“The fort in Kells in Dromcollogher is the only square fort located in County Limerick; the remainder of the forts are circular”

Listed Houses

One of the listed houses in the area is a house located on the Mondellihy road and was owned by Limerick Health Board. Over the years, it has been residence to doctors who served Dromcollogher and the surrounding areas.

In the mid-30’s Doctor Moss Hannigan and Doctor Tim Hannigan, both brothers, resided in the house. Doctor Moss was the local Doctor and Doctor Tim worked with the British Army.

Later the house was residence to another local doctor, Doctor McNamara, who also served Kilmeedy, Feenagh and Clouncagh.

Tasty Chinese Restaurant is also a listed building.

St. Mary’s Secondary School, now closed, and the Court House both situated on the Butte vant Road are both listed buildings.

PHOTO
EDUCATION

Dromcolloqher National School

The first national school in Dromcollogher was located where the Heritage Centre now stands. The current National School, which is situated on the Buttevant road, was built in 1959. The school was originally divided into two sections; boys and girls. In the boys school Mr 0’ Callaghan was the first Principle and his wife taught there. In the girls school Mrs. Ahern was the Principle. Ms. P Aylward succeeded Mrs. Ahern. In 1991, the school amalgamated. Mr. David Browne took over as Principle of the whole school. Other teachers at the school were Mrs. Considine, Mr. Joe Scully, Mrs. Holmes, Mrs. Kitty O’Leary and Mrs. Mary O’Keefe. The teachers that are currently present at the school are Mr. David

Browne, Mrs. Frances Noonan, Mrs. Eileen Twomey, Mr. Murphy and Mrs. Keys.

PHOTO

The previous photograph was taken in 1936 of First and Second Class in the national school in -

Dromcollogher, which was situated where the Heritage Centre now stands.

Front Row Left to Right.

A. O’Sullivan, T. Noonan, D. Noonan, P. Sheehan, M. O’Connell, B. Keating, P. Scully

Second Row Left to Right

?. Costello, T. Gleeson, R. Sheehy, B. O’Mahoney, J. Dore, P. Alyward, M. McCarthy, J. Alyward,

B. Dore, J. Wall.

Third Row Left to Right

J. O’Sullivan, D. Fitzgibbon, B. Walshe, D. Broderick, M. Walshe, P. O’Brein, P. Brouder, S.

O’Brein, D. Kelly

Back Row Left to Right

M. Sheehan, J O’Sullivan, D. Dore, P. Broderick, P. Long N.T., J. Lyons, D. Barrett, T. Wall

Scoil Mhuire

On September 8th 1936, Scoil Mhüire Dromcollogher was opened at John 0’

Brien’s house in the Square. The founder was Miss Josephine Egan of

Knockaderry. It had twenty-four students on its roll, and a staff of two - Miss

Josephine Egan and Miss 0’ Kelly. In 1946, the school moved to a new premise

on the Buttevant Road and the building was rented from Mr. J Savage. In June

1950, Ms. Egan married Mr. John Savage and in 1954, they bought the building.

In August 1983 Mrs Josephine Savage died and the school continued in the

same tradition under the management of Mr John Savage until his death in 1990

The school was then managed by Mr. John Moher and up until its closure in

2005, Mrs Murphy was principle.

Dromcollogher Community College

PHOTO

The 1930 Education Act, which was brought into existence, gave local powers education system and ended the “culture of dependence”. This saw the formation of the V. E. C.’s and ultimately Vocational Schools. Dromcollogher Vocational School opened in 1941 and its Mr. Tom Villiers was Principal. In 2002 The Community College moved premises and was renamed Hazelwood College. The present Principal is Mr. Liam Lenihan.

An t-lonad Glas (Organic College)

In 1991, eight women decided to start a horticultural course in a prefabricated building at the back of the then vocational college. This course took off in a big way and in 1992; An t-lonad Glas was established as one of the first horticultural colleges in Ireland.

There are four permanent teachers at the college and fifty-two students; these include distance-learning students. Many of the past students have gone on to running their own businesses and some are teaching. Jim McNamara, Knockaderry is the educational director of the college and Dr. Sinead Neiland, Knocktoosh, is one of the longest serving teachers, being with the college since it opened. Liam Linehan, Principal of Hazeiwood College, is the overseer under the V.E.C.

In the College are gardens, which contain -vegetable and herb gardens, a tree nursery, a poultry unit, eco- buildings, and beehives and a honey production unit.

CARNIVALS

Starting in 1940 huge carnivals were held every year to raise money for a Parochial Hall. Carnivals are still held but are not as large as the carnivals of the 1940’s. Today the profit from the carnivals goes to support local clubs, such as the G.A.A, the athletics club, the ladies club, the Macra na Ferma and other clubs.

Joan Long and Moss Kiely First Mayor and Mayoress of Dromcollogher carnival. Below some local participants of the fancy dress.

7AGRICULTURAL SHOW

Another highlight of the year 1964 was the Agricultural Show, these shows started in 1943. The show was held on the grounds of the Vocational School. Some events of the show were competitions for horse jumping, horse and pony judging, livestock, farm produce, vegetables, fruit, honey and flowers, home crafts, poultry and eggs. The famous show jumper Tommy Wade once rode at the Dromcollogher show. The show dance was held after the show, this was a big event with some of Ireland’s best Orchestras and singers.

Dromcoflogher AgricuturaI Show 1955
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The Parochial hail has thrived since and is one of the main halls in the area.

Dromcollog her has won many awards for drama. The major Awards were two All

Ireland awards one in English and one in Irish. The English play was called “ALL

SOULS NIGHT” by J. Tomelty and was won in 1956. The Irish play was called

“SUGAN SNEACHTA” by Mairead Ni Grada, which was won in 1964.

G.A.A.

Dromcollogher G.A.A. pitch was purchased in the early 1950 from the Sheehy family. Prior to that, the club had been renting a pitch from the family on the Broadford road. The family offered the club a chance to purchase the present pitch on the Newcastle West Road at a reasonable cost, and were very pleased and went ahead with the purchase. A committee was put in place to develop it. The committee had the field closed off, ploughed and re-seeded and a wall built. Most of the work was done by voluntary labour and supervised by James Lynch. The field was opened on Easter Sunday April 18th 1954 by Fr. H. 0’ Connor, PP., Dromcollogher, assisted by Fr. C Moynihan, C.C. Broadford.

There was further development in the 1960’s & 1970’s with the erection of two dressing rooms, enclosure of the field, two embankments and a stand. However, with the declining activity of the field committee in the 1980’s, and other clubs purchasing fields Dromcollogher lost its popularity. 1986 saw an amalgamation of Dromcollogher and Broadford clubs. In 1992, a showering system was installed in the dressing room at a cost of £10,000. In 1995, a committee was appointed as follows: Christy Kiely, Kieran Ryan, Seamus Lordan, Garry Noonan and Jim Madigan to plan the upgrading of the pitch, which involved the removal of the old perimeter fence and a bank of earth. The pitch has been ploughed and re-seeded. The stand has been concreted and a footpath leading to it, a newperimeter fence and boundary fence have been put in place; electricity supply has been installed giving flood light to the pitch. Dug outs built a press box with electronic score board turnstiles, ladies and Gents toilets. The club received a piece of ground at the top of the pitch at the courtesy of Dr. Sheehy and as a result, the pitch is now maximum size with fencing round at the top of the pitch.

Eugene Noonan played with the Limerick in 1955 winning a Munster Championship medal. He won County Minor in 1942 and 1944. He won County Junior Hurling medals in 1949 and 1959. In 1955, Limerick Senior Hurlers defeated Waterford in the opening round of the hurling championship and faced Clare in the Munster final. Clare had beaten Cork and Tipperary and were fancied to win but Limerick created a big shock winning 2-16 to 2-6. Donal Broderick played at corner back and the late Eugene Noonan was at halfback. Limerick faced Wexford in the semi-final who proved too strong and won 2-12 to

2-3.

Seamus Twomey and John Hehir also played in 1955; Limerick won the Munster Minor Hurling Championships.

Another famed man from this club who played with Limerick were Mick Savage

RIP. (later with Claughaun), Dave Geary (later with Waterford), Mike Barrett and

Timmy Burke, Ml Barrett and many others who don’t come to mind will give way

to the greatest

Derry McCarthy & Donal Broderick these two players could have been known as Dromcollogher’s ‘Terrible Twins”. Derry and Donal played against Christy Ring, Mick Mackey and many more great hurlers. Derry and Doney two quietly spoken men left the “talking” in the hurling field, with some fine performances with Club County and province. Both player’s won county Junior Championships with the club in three different decades ‘49, 59 and 63. Derry who unlucky not to make the county minor team in 1940 as little was thought of Dromcollogher being a hurling

—“ z.;0] club at the time. It was the beginning of a great hurling era in the parish. Derry must be considered unlucky that he came on the scene at the wrong time. The great Limerick team of the 30 was coming to the end of its career in 1940 and many bleak years were ahead of Limerick Hurlers.

Derry’s first success at provincial level, when in 1951 when he was selected for Munster and won a Railway Cup Medal. He was to go on to win further medals in 1952 and 1953 but was on the losing team of 1954. The only other Limerick players to be selected for Munster were Eddie Stokes and Mick Herbert; Derry had the distinction of being selected on the Irish team against Irish Universities. Derry’s other brothers, John, Jim and Paddy played a prominent part with Dromcollogher.

Donal Broderick played Minor Hurling with Dromcollogher from 1941 to 1944 wining 2 County Championships in 1942 and 1944. He also won County titles in 1949, 1959 and 1963. He was a member of the Limerick Senior Hurling team that defeated Waterford in the first round and defeated Clare in the final 2-16 to 2-6. Clare had eariier defeated cork and Tipperary. Wexford proved too good for Limerick in the All-Ireland Semi-final.

In 1956 Limerick also defeated Clare in the opening round. Limerick faced Cork in the Munster final Donal had been marking Christy Ring and holding scoreless with a quarter of an hour to go. Christy moved out field and taking on the limerick’s defence scored three goals. Donal’s other brothers Jim, Paidie and Tom also Helped Dromcollogher to win County titles. Another notable player was Paddy Morrissey (RIP) who played with Dromcollogher and won two junior titles in 1959 and 1963. DromcollogherlBroadford G.A.A. Club House

‘Over the years the club has done an amount of development work. Pairc Na nGael in Dromcollogher was completely redeveloped in 1997. In 2003, the officers and committee embarked on their most ambitious project to develop a modern clubhouse that would incorporate four dressing rooms, referees room, meeting room, and a medical room. Under the leadership of the officers Michael Quald, Seamus Lordan and Charlie Buttler a very successful fundraising draw with a winners prize of €10,000 was organised which raised in excess of €90,000. With the help of a substantial grant from the National Lottery the building is now corn pIete’11.

Hurling

Dromcollogher County Junior Hurling Champions 1959

Back Row Left to Right: Sean Ryan (Selector), Pat Noonan, Denis Savage, Paddy

Morrissey, Donal Broderick, Joe Scully, Dick Stack, John Savage, Ml. O’Dell, Tom

Stack, Gerry Egan, John Stack, Cola O’Kelly (Selector), Front Row: Denis ‘Sarge”

0’ Kelly (Trainer), Derry McCarthy, Sean O’Dell, Paddy Stack, Tony Kelly, Eugene

Noonan, John McCarthy, Brendan Kelly, Tom Costelloe Jnr., Son Costelloe

(Selector), Sitting Michael Costelloe, Pat Wall. “In the early 30’s Dromcollogher players, Son and Ben Costello, Anthony

McAuliffe and Denis Savage played with Broadford in the championship.

Following that period, the Dromcollogher club was fully developed by the late Mr.

Long and Mr. O’Callaghan to name just a few.

Dromcollogher continued to receive praise in poetry, and in 1937 the Gaelic Scribe Carberry (P. J. Nelligan) wrote “On Sunday last I was down in the border town for the Munster Hurling Championships, situated on the Cork-Limerick boarder on the high road to Kerry, with its spacious Square and the courtesy of its stewards and hospitality of its people. I was lonesome when coming away form it, and all I wished was that I could bring a bit of it away in my pocket. Dromcollogher is purely a kingdom of its own!

In 1942 and 1944, Dromcollogher won the Minor County titles and the club flourished. In 1949, they won their first junior title when they defeated Cappamore with the help of some players from Feenagh, which then lead Dromcollogher to have a senior team for a few years.

In 1952, they won the Egan Cup in a West Limerick competition. From then onwards they had a very promising Minor club.

In 1958, the club won the Gold Watch tournament held in Ballingarry against Feenagh on August

In 1959, they won the junior title against Murroe, contested the Minor final against Doon unsuccessfully.

There were some lean years to follow and in 1963, they won the junior title by defeating Pallas green. In 1964, Dromcollogher contested the senior title and were beaten by Cappamore. In the late 70’s and early 80’s the junior team played in four west titles and won some.

In 1973, they won the Community Games in Mosney and they contested unsuccessfully the County title in the same year against Garryspillane, Murroe, Na Piarsaig and Feenagh.

In 1986, Dromcollogher amalgamated with Broadford and the club is now known as Drom/Broadford.

In that period of Hurling from the late 40’s to the 80’s we had some great hurlers,

Derry McCarthy, Donal Broderick, Eugene Noonan, who all played at Senior

grade. In the junior grades, some of the most noteworthy players were Mike

Barrett, Jim Madigan, Mikie Connors, Mike Savage, Phil O’Dell, John Collins,

Dominic Twomey, and John Brouder.

Some of the intermediate greats were Sean O’Dell, Jerry Egan, Jimmy and Martin Geary.

Back Row Left to Right. Eamonn Madigan, Maurice O’Connor, Dee O’Leary,

Declan O’Carroll, Pa Kiely, John Madigan, Ben Noonan, Seanie Buckley, John

Brudair, Tom McLoughlin, Gareth Noonan

Front Row. Mike Quaid, Paul Ennis, Liam Buckley, Neil Conway, Mikey Clancy,

Ray Lynch, Neil Fitzpatrick (R.I.P.), Michael Reidy, Kieran Leahy

-119-Some of the Minor greats were John Hehir and Seam us Twomey who played in an All Ireland final in Dublin for Limerick. John Broderick, Frankie Broderick, Phil O’Dell and Dick O’Dell were also Minor greats.

In 1993, they won the junior championship when they defeated Ballybricken there after it was mainly football”.

Football

In 1992

1996

1997

1998

1999

2001

2003

2004

Won

Won

Won

Won

Won

Won

Won

Won

Junior B

Under 21 B

Minor title B

Junior

Intermediate

Minor title B

Senior Title

Senior Title

“Denis O’Carroll is the present PRO of the cIub.””

Senior Title
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F. Mr. Mullins

“Mr. Mullins came to Dromcollogher in 1947 from Bord Na Mona where he was in the accounts department and there he learned short hand, typing and bookkeeping. He came from east Limerick to Dromcollogher to teach short hand and Irish. He taught for forty years in the Technical College (which now houses the Organic College), and had been principal for ten years before his retirement in 1987. There were 150 to 200 pupils in the school at the time he was principal. He was deeply involved in Muintir Na Tire and the Community Council up until

1980.”

The following is an account of what was achieved by Muintir Na Tire in Dromcollogher in the early days of the organisation.

“The Muintir Na Tire organisation was founded by Fr. Hayes, who was a native of Tipperary, to heal the divides caused in the war of independence. It was made up of all classes of people from the shopkeepers to the farmers to labourers. Muintir Na Tire, in Dromcollogher was vital in creating employment in the area. Muintir Na Tire, met once a month to discuss any issue that would be of benefit to Dromcollogher.

After the closure of the quarry and the creamer,’ there was very few jobs in the area and the members of Mu/n tir Na Tire decided on a proactive approach to seek employment for the area. People from the area were travelling to Charleville for work and the members were afraid that these people would settle in Charleville.

The bank in Dromcollogher was under the control of the head quarters in Tralee, who threatened to close the bank because of a lack of accounts; the bank manager approached the members of Muintir Na Tire to try to save the bank. Due to the low employment in the area at that time not many people held bank accounts, the members held a meeting in the bank and they decided that those that held current accounts would open savings account and vice versa, thus increasing the amount of accounts held in the bank.

In 1960 the government introduced a bill to attract foreign investment, before the introduction of this bill all companies in Ireland had to be at least 51% Irish owned,

The members looked to Germany to bring employment to the area. They decided to place an advertisement in one of Germany’s biggest newspapers ‘Die Welt’ (The World) and had their advertisement translated by a German priest living in Limerick.

The advertisement came to the attention of the Saar family, who had been engaged in porcelain making in Dresden, a town in Germany.

Oscar Saar, made contact and a meeting was set up. Diarmuid Riordan, the founder of Southern Chemicals in Askeaton Co. Limerick, travelled to Hanover to a trade fair, where he was to meet Oscar Saar and speak to him on behalf of Muintir Na Tire. Oscar Saar agreed to come to Dromcollogher and set up a porcelain factory, specialising in making Dresden figurines, on the condition that relevant funding could be raised by Muintir Na Tire.

To fund the business in 1960, £20,000 Irish Punts were needed (equivalent to

320,000 euros) this money was split into three equal amounts raised from Oscar

Saar, the Irish Government, and the people of Dromcollogher.

In order to raise the money needed, sixty shares in the company were to be sold at £100 each. Individuals could buy shares or a syndicate could come together and buy a share between them. These shares would constitute the money needed to be raised by the local community towards the founding of the factory, the government would give an equal amount and Oscar Saar supplied a third part of the capital

When the company was opened, it employed sixty individuals, mostly women. Having been warned by Mr. O’Riordan not to expect too much in the way of pro fit for up to twenty years the members found that they had to return to the government to get more money. Members of the county council were brought in to over see the money. Dromcollogher was lucky to receive this money as the government was more inclined to give money to the bigger towns in the county like Newcastle West or Limerick City.

In 1970, the members went back to the government to try and locate industry for the area for the male population of the town as The Dresden Factory was a more female orientated work environment.

This was the inception for Form Grinders. Also in the locality, Jim Goggin

(Goggin and Buckley) had the idea to build structural steel houses. He

approached Muintir Na Tire, who in turn approached Shannon Free Airport

Development Company, for help in building a factory to house his works.

All the above sources of employment started with the help of Muintir Na Tire are still great sources of employment in the community today”’. The Dromcollogher Community Welfare Proiect

Dromcollogher has a small but active Community Council which evolved in the 1960’s from the local branches of Muintir Na Tire. They have undertaken numerous projects over the last few years, which have helped employment, culture, housing needs, recreation and heritage. 
The following are some of the most notable in the list of Community Projects undertaken and completed.

• Renovation of the Old Town Hall as a Community Hall.

• Restoration of the 1889 Dromcollogher Co-operative Creamery and establishment of the National Dairy Museum.

• The Community Council has identified two areas of social need in the community (Social Housing, and Day Care Centre for the Elderly)

• Fourteen social housing units for the Elderly built and occupied.

• Day care centre completed and operating under the guidance of the Sisters of the Infant Jesus and staffed by Fas.

• Seven family 3-bed roomed housing units completed and occupied.

• Site acquired for 2-3 additional social houses completed and occupied.

• Extension to the Day Care Centre.

• Retirement home for Handicapped in coniunction with Charleville and District for the Handicapped completed and occupied. The Community Council acquired the sites for all these and the aim for the future is to acquire a number of derelict sites in and around the Town to provide additional social housing for the Elderly and Families in need of accommodation or start-up houses for younger couples. The developments as detailed above are clustered around the museum and heritage centre but the sites earmarked for future development will be dispersed around the village to allow for greater integration with the community. GLÔR NA GAEL

Diarmuid Mullins, Paddy Long and Gerry Keyes being presented with the Glor Na

GaeI trophy by President De Valera in 1969.

A branch of GlOr Na GaeI was founded in 1966. Among the founder members were Diarmuid 0’ Maolain, Padraig 0’ Longig, Gearoid Mac Aoidh.

Activities included Irish Drama classes, resulting in an all Ireland win in the Damer Hall Dublin. There were also two annual outings to the Gaeltacht, to areas such as Oileann Cleire, Spideal, An Rinn and Ballyferriter. Three town trader’s names were displayed on their premises in Irish, street names were also in Irish, Irish advertising in shop windows, shops displayed signs stating that the shopkeeper could speak some Irish.

All these activities culminated in winning first prize in the country for the GlOr Na GaeI Trophy. In 1 969, the town won first prize for all their hard work. The prize was awarded by the then President, Eamonn De Valera. The award was presented to the town on Sunday 19th of March 1969. A platform was erected on the Garden of Remembrance for the President and other important people. The14th Battalion of the Limerick F.C.A. were present to take the presidential salute.

The band of the southern command was also present. The perpetual award was a wire woven figure of three black birds.

MART

A Co-Operative Mart was founded in Dromcollogher in 1967. The late Tom Stack, whose influence together with the late Rev. Canon O’Connor, was mainly responsible for collecting the necessary money to launch this Co-Op type mart other fund raisers were John Clarkeson, John Savage, Eugene O’Sullivan, Jim Noonan (Feenagh), Tadgh Dwane, Michael McAuliffe (Killeedy), Tom Twomey and Donal O’Sullivan, Seamus Stack was organising secretary. The actual building started with two auction rings and open pens. Since then the pens were roofed and a canteen was erected together with a shed of pens for pigs. The mart has brought inestimable value to the town, to the local farming community and spurred the trade of the town.

DROMCOLLOGHER CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Dromcollogher Credit Union Limited was registered on the 22’ Sept 1970. The Parochial Hall was used for meetings and for a collection point. During the first year in operation, the credit union had eighty-two members. This number increased slowly over the first ten years and at the end of twenty years, it had reached four-hundred and forty members. As the membership increased, the share capital increased to £295,242.00.

It was decided in 1990 that the Credit Union would have its own premises. A house was purchased and renovated after which membership and share capital increased. A collection point at the library in Broadford was also being used, and the board of Dromcollogher Credit Union Limited decided to purchase premisesin Broadford. The premises were purchased and renovated and on the 17th of June 1997 were blessed and opened.

DRESDEN

In March of 1960 at an extraordinary General meeting of the Parish Council, it was suggested that Dromcollogher look for an industry. A sub-committee was formed from the council, and a silver circle, with cards 1/- per week for 20 weeks was promoted to get funds. This brought in £790 net, which enabled the Parish Council to get moving.

On the advice of M.l.R. Boland of Skibbereen, the Parish Council advertised in the German newspaper “Die Welt” (The World) and in a short time got 17 replies.

Herr Oskar Saar was interested in coming to Ireland to promote an Industry for the manufacture of high-grade figurines of Dresden type porcelain, a craft

Industry making hand painted figurines with decorative lace.

Constant letters passes between 0’ Saar, the I.D.A. and the Parish Council and over a twelve-month period, hopes ebbed and flowed. Then Oskar Saar decided to pay a visit to Dromcollogher at the end of May 1962. Herr and Frau Saar were taken on a visit by appointment, to the I.D.A. After a long discussion, there was a meeting with the Principal Officer and Chief Inspectors of the Tech. branch of the Dept. of Education. They were willing to sanction (provided the County Limerick Voc. Education Committee agreed) a scheme whereby salaries were paid by Herr Saar and two German assistants for three months.

John G. Galvin quoted it in the book “Dromcollogher Steps Out” “Dromcollogher Porcelain Factory presented, through the Mayor of Limerick Mrs Frances Condell, a group figurine (Grandmother’s Birthday) to John F. Kennedy, President of the USA. The group figurine was the unaided product of the young men and women of the Factory and while on display at the City Hall, Limerick, it amazed visitors by its sheer beauty and craftsmanship.”

GARDEN OR REMEMBRANCE

The Garden of Rememberance, located in the Square, was opened on 17th June 1969 to honour all those who died for Ireland.

The Dromcollogher Community Council

The Dromcollogher Community Council evolved in 1973, from the Dromcollogher Muintir Na Tire Guild, which was established in 1948. Both bodies have similar roles to play in pursuing the needs of the community. During these many years, the Muintir Na Tire / Community Council has been active in voicing the needs and the interests of Dromcollogher citizens locally, regionally, nationally and internationally.

Initially assisting in providing such mundane, but vital things, as the water supply & sewage, street lighting, and litter bins, it moved onto enhancing the towns tourist potential and building of the Day Care Centre

for the Elderly. Included within this broad spectrum was the setting up of the Credit Union, the local Co-op Mart, the Library, and running of the annual Carnival.

In its history, the Muintir Na Tire/Community Council has created local employment by encouraging industries to set up in Dromcollogher. In somecases, it even supplied “seed capital” for companies to get started, e.g. the Dresden Porcelain Factory.

This particular action has enabled the Community Council to create sites for the Day Care Centre, the second set of social housing, the setting up of the country’s first Organic Horticultural Education Centre, and a location for a local business, it will also provide sites for seven family sized houses.

In the last ten years, the council has been actively involved with development of tourist and social facilities. In 1989, Dromcollogher opened the National Dairy Co-op Museum and in the same year, the Community Council completed the first stage of the social housing with the building of four houses for the community’s elderly.

Since then there has been further development of the towns tourist attractions with the opening of the Heritage Centre incorporating, the Co-op Exhibition, a Coffee shop (with a full time employee), and lecture room. In the pipeline are, a video of the history of butter making, to be shown in the Heritage Center’s lecture room, and a display of steam-powered machinery. Although funded partly through grants, most of the original ideas and finances have come from within the community.

On the social side, the Community Council has been aware of the changing needs of the town. Recently they were involved in the building of the second stage of the social housing which incorpora ted the creation of six more units for the elderly and the construction of a Day Care Centre for the elderly. Again, they are looking to the future, trying to ensure that there is sufficient quality housing to keep the families in the area, and they are in the process of setting up a Housing Association with the brief to organise the building of family houses.

Over the last ten years, a number of subcommittees evolved as listed below: * Restoration Committee - They were in charge of the restoring of old agricultural machinery especially the steam driven engines. For a year, they also sponsored the running of a FAS youth training project.

* Heritage Committee - this group organised the building of the Heritage Centre and liaised with the Restoration Committee in the restoring of the First Dairy Co-operative in Ireland. (See appendix 1)

* Housing Associations - these organise the building of houses for local people.

Day Care Association - these organised the building of a Day Care Centre for the elderly in the Dromcollogher area and surrounding district. Other committees in the town (some which the project occasionally assist ):

Carnival Committee, Credit Union, G.A.A., Grave Yard Committee, Parochial Hall

Committee, Ladies Club, Macra Na Feirme, and St. Vincent De PauI.’ Day Care Centre

The following are some of the most notable in the list of Community Projects undertaken and completed.

• Renovation of the Old Town Hall as a Community Hall.

• Restoration of the 1889 Dromcollogher Co-operative Creamery and establishment of the National Dairy Museum.

• The Community Council has identified two areas of social need in the community (Social Housing, and Day Care Centre for the Elderly)

• Fourteen social housing units for the Elderly built and occupied.

• Day care centre completed and operating under the guidance of the Sisters of the Infant Jesus and staffed by Fas.

• Seven family 3-bed roomed housing units completed and occupied.

• Site acquired for 2-3 additional social houses completed and occupied.

• Extension to the Day Care Centre.

• Retirement home for Handicapped in coniunction with Charleville and District for the Handicapped completed and occupied. The Community Council acquired the sites for all these and the aim for the future is to acquire a number of derelict sites in and around the Town to provide additional social housing for the Elderly and Families in need of accommodation or start-up houses for younger couples. The developments as detailed above are clustered around the museum and heritage centre but the sites earmarked for future development will be dispersed around the village to allow for greater integration with the community. GLÔR NA GAEL

Diarmuid Mullins, Paddy Long and Gerry Keyes being presented with the Glor Na

GaeI trophy by President De Valera in 1969.

A branch of GlOr Na GaeI was founded in 1966. Among the founder members were Diarmuid 0’ Maolain, Padraig 0’ Longig, Gearoid Mac Aoidh.

Activities included Irish Drama classes, resulting in an all Ireland win in the Damer Hall Dublin. There were also two annual outings to the Gaeltacht, to areas such as Oileann Cleire, Spideal, An Rinn and Ballyferriter. Three town trader’s names were displayed on their premises in Irish, street names were also in Irish, Irish advertising in shop windows, shops displayed signs stating that the shopkeeper could speak some Irish.

All these activities culminated in winning first prize in the country for the GlOr Na GaeI Trophy. In 1 969, the town won first prize for all their hard work. The prize was awarded by the then President, Eamonn De Valera. The award was presented to the town on Sunday 19th of March 1969. A platform was erected on the Garden of Remembrance for the President and other important people. The14th Battalion of the Limerick F.C.A. were present to take the presidential salute.

The band of the southern command was also present. The perpetual award was a wire woven figure of three black birds.

MART

A Co-Operative Mart was founded in Dromcollogher in 1967. The late Tom Stack, whose influence together with the late Rev. Canon O’Connor, was mainly responsible for collecting the necessary money to launch this Co-Op type mart other fund raisers were John Clarkeson, John Savage, Eugene O’Sullivan, Jim Noonan (Feenagh), Tadgh Dwane, Michael McAuliffe (Killeedy), Tom Twomey and Donal O’Sullivan, Seamus Stack was organising secretary. The actual building started with two auction rings and open pens. Since then the pens were roofed and a canteen was erected together with a shed of pens for pigs. The mart has brought inestimable value to the town, to the local farming community and spurred the trade of the town.

DROMCOLLOGHER CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Dromcollogher Credit Union Limited was registered on the 22’ Sept 1970. The Parochial Hall was used for meetings and for a collection point. During the first year in operation, the credit union had eighty-two members. This number increased slowly over the first ten years and at the end of twenty years, it had reached four-hundred and forty members. As the membership increased, the share capital increased to £295,242.00.

It was decided in 1990 that the Credit Union would have its own premises. A house was purchased and renovated after which membership and share capital increased. A collection point at the library in Broadford was also being used, and the board of Dromcollogher Credit Union Limited decided to purchase premisesin Broadford. The premises were purchased and renovated and on the 17th of June 1997 were blessed and opened.

DRESDEN

In March of 1960 at an extraordinary General meeting of the Parish Council, it was suggested that Dromcollogher look for an industry. A sub-committee was formed from the council, and a silver circle, with cards 1/- per week for 20 weeks was promoted to get funds. This brought in £790 net, which enabled the Parish Council to get moving.

On the advice of M.l.R. Boland of Skibbereen, the Parish Council advertised in the German newspaper “Die Welt” (The World) and in a short time got 17 replies.

Herr Oskar Saar was interested in coming to Ireland to promote an Industry for the manufacture of high-grade figurines of Dresden type porcelain, a craft

Industry making hand painted figurines with decorative lace.

Constant letters passes between 0’ Saar, the I.D.A. and the Parish Council and over a twelve-month period, hopes ebbed and flowed. Then Oskar Saar decided to pay a visit to Dromcollogher at the end of May 1962. Herr and Frau Saar were taken on a visit by appointment, to the I.D.A. After a long discussion, there was a meeting with the Principal Officer and Chief Inspectors of the Tech. branch of the Dept. of Education. They were willing to sanction (provided the County Limerick Voc. Education Committee agreed) a scheme whereby salaries were paid by Herr Saar and two German assistants for three months.

John G. Galvin quoted it in the book “Dromcollogher Steps Out” “Dromcollogher Porcelain Factory presented, through the Mayor of Limerick Mrs Frances Condell, a group figurine (Grandmother’s Birthday) to John F. Kennedy, President of the USA. The group figurine was the unaided product of the young men and women of the Factory and while on display at the City Hall, Limerick, it amazed visitors by its sheer beauty and craftsmanship.”

GARDEN OR REMEMBRANCE

The Garden of Rememberance, located in the Square, was opened on 17th June 1969 to honour all those who died for Ireland.

The Dromcollogher Community Council

The Dromcollogher Community Council evolved in 1973, from the Dromcollogher Muintir Na Tire Guild, which was established in 1948. Both bodies have similar roles to play in pursuing the needs of the community. During these many years, the Muintir Na Tire / Community Council has been active in voicing the needs and the interests of Dromcollogher citizens locally, regionally, nationally and internationally.

Initially assisting in providing such mundane, but vital things, as the water supply & sewage, street lighting, and litter bins, it moved onto enhancing the towns tourist potential and building of the Day Care Centre

for the Elderly. Included within this broad spectrum was the setting up of the Credit Union, the local Co-op Mart, the Library, and running of the annual Carnival.

In its history, the Muintir Na Tire/Community Council has created local employment by encouraging industries to set up in Dromcollogher. In some cases, it even supplied “seed capital” for companies to get started, e.g. the Dresden Porcelain Factory.

This particular action has enabled the Community Council to create sites for the Day Care Centre, the second set of social housing, the setting up of the country’s first Organic Horticultural Education Centre, and a location for a local business, it will also provide sites for seven family sized houses.

